IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 94,611

ELMER LEON CARROLL,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GREGORY C. SMITH Capital Collateral Counsel Florida Bar No. 279080

ANDREW THOMAS Chief Assistant CCC-NR Florida Bar No. 0317942

SCOTT B. MARIO Staff Attorney, CCC-NR Florida Bar No. 0177441

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL COUNSEL Northern Region of Florida Post Office Drawer 5498 Tallahassee, FL 32314-5498 (850) 488-7200

Counsel for Appellant

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

## PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Elmer Leon Carroll was indicted for one count of first degree felony murder and one count of sexual battery on a person less than twelve years of age on November 26, 1990, in Orange County, Florida. (R. 996-97.) The State's case is summarized in this Court's direct appeal opinion. Carroll v. State, 636 So. 2d 1316 (Fla. 1994). Trial followed and the jury convicted Mr. Carroll as charged on March 21, 1992. (R. 1281.) Penalty phase was conducted on April 13, 1992, during which the State presented additional evidence and Mr. Carroll's appointed counsel presented no witnesses and introduced a single exhibit, a police report handed to him by the assistant state attorney just before the close of penalty phase proceedings. (R. 883-964.) Following instructions and deliberations, the jury recommended that the sentence of death be imposed for the first degree felony murder of Christine McGowan. (R. 1277-80; 883-964.) The trial court sentenced Mr. Carroll to death, finding three aggravating circumstances and one nonstatutory mitigating circumstance. (R. 965-99.) Mr. Carroll appealed his convictions and sentence of death, which were affirmed. Carroll v. State, 636 So. 2d 1316 (Fla. 1994).

Mr. Carroll sought postconviction relief by filing a Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion on February 1, 1996. (PC-R. 450-571.) An amended motion was filed January 31, 1997 (PC-696-832), and the State was ordered to respond by February 28, 1997. The State requested an extension of time, (PC-R. 835-37),

which the circuit court denied on March 7, 1997. (PC-R. 846-50.) The State's response was not filed until April 7, 1997. (PC-R. 915-55.) On April 8, 1997, the trial court held a Huff hearing, (Supp. PC-R. 1-94), and entered an order striking the State's written response as untimely; denying Mr. Carroll relief on some claims; and granting an evidentiary hearing on Mr. Carroll's claims alleging ineffective assistance of counsel during both guilt phase and penalty phase. (PC-R. 979-81.) An evidentiary hearing was held on August 4-5. 1997. On October 1, 1997, Capital Collateral Regional Counsel Greg Smith requested an extension of time in which to submit written closing arguments, as the break-up of CCR and concomitant departure of Mr. Carroll's lead attorney left Mr. Carroll without counsel qualified to take over the case. (PC-T. 436-44.) The circuit court denied this request on the same day, although it permitted the State to submit its written final argument. (PC-R. 1115-16.) On October 20, 1998, the circuit court entered its order denying Mr. Carroll relief on all claims. (PC-R. 1157-85.)

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

## I. BACKGROUND AND FORMATIVE YEARS OF ELMER CARROLL

Elmer Carroll is a borderline mentally retarded man with a long history of mental illness. He has brain damage and learning disabilities. (PC-T. 229-33.) His IQ of 81 makes him intellectually equivalent to an eleven-year-old child. (PC-T. 229.) The youngest of nine children fathered by a succession of men, Elmer grew up in stark poverty as his migrant worker parents

drifted in search of farm labor. Elmer's natural father, Henry Carroll, was a violent and sadistic man who once chopped a puppy into pieces while his children watched. (PC-T. 187, Affidavit of Edward Couch.) Elmer's mother Lona suffered from severe mental illness. Often the children would find her in a trance-like state, sitting for hours without speaking. (PC-T. 185.) Sometimes she would deliberately ram her head into walls. (Affidavit of Barbara Snead.)

Both of Elmer's parents were alcoholics. His mother was a particularly heavy drinker, and moonshine fueled her frequent fits of rage against her children. (Affidavit of Shirley Griffin.) Elmer's brother still bears scars on his face from being tossed into a wood stove by his mother at age six. Elmer himself endured beatings with a hickory stick which would not cease until his mother tired or he passed out. (PC-T. 304.) Elmer's niece Shirley often witnessed these beatings. On several occasions when Elmer was knocked unconscious, Shirley feared he was dead. (Affidavit of Shirley Griffin.)

When Elmer was three, his parents gave him liquor because they found it entertaining to watch him fall down or get sick. (PC-T. 279.) By the time he was six, Elmer was an alcoholic. At age twelve, a neighbor named Joe Mays began taking Elmer out to movies on Friday nights. Mays would get Elmer drunk and force him to perform oral sex, sometimes urinating in the boy's face. (PC-T. 281-84, 305.) This abuse continued for a year until Mays was eventually arrested and prosecuted. (PC-T. 281-84.) Elmer

never received any counseling, and dropped out of school in the seventh grade. (PC-T. 283-84.) In addition to drinking, at this time he began using narcotics. (Affidavit of Nellie Sue Smith.)

As Elmer entered adolescence his mental health deteriorated and his abuse of drugs and alcohol worsened. He began having alcohol-induced blackouts and hallucinatory episodes after drinking. (PC-T. 296-97, Affidavit of Nellie Sue Smith.) Elmer's nephew recalls an incident where young Elmer beat a hole in the ground with his fists and claimed to be killing demons. (PC-T. 297.) Elmer also experienced feelings of paranoia, frequently getting into bar room brawls because he feared people were talking about him. (Affidavit of Nellie Sue Smith.)

In the weeks preceding his arrest on October 30, 1990, Elmer's behavior continued to attract attention. Margaret Powell, director of the halfway house where Elmer was living at the time, testified at trial that Elmer "got to where he wouldn't smile, looked real depressed and sometimes I'd see him walk by my office window, he'd be talking to himself." (R. 625.) Mrs. Powell tried several times to persuade Elmer to seek mental health counseling: "I told him that he was going to need more help than what I could give him." (R. 626.) She grew so concerned that she even set up a counseling appointment for Elmer, but he refused. He insisted he didn't need help. (R. 626.)

On the night of October 29, 1990--hours before the death of Christine McGowan--a cocktail waitress at the Buckeye Inn noticed

a disheveled man at the bar talking to his jacket. (R. 634-35.) This man was Elmer Carroll. (R. 634.) The waitress testified at trial that Elmer "stated that Jessie [Elmer's sister] hadn't won yet and that he was going to burn in hell, stating things about Satan and the devil wasn't a myth or object, several things like that." (R. 635.) She watched as Elmer walked to the back of the bar and began talking to a mirror. (R. 635-36.) He also went into the men's room and came out crying, with tissue in his hands. (R. 636.)

After drinking a few beers at the Buckeye Inn, Elmer wandered down the street and into the Old 49'er Club, a tavern about a block away. (R. 639-40.) Judy Arnold was tending bar that night. (R. 639.) She recalled Elmer playing some songs on the juke box and then begin speaking to the juke box:

> You couldn't understand what he was saying. He was mumbling, you know, then he walked around, he looked at the pictures on the wall and just stared at them. And he turned around and laugh (sic), then he looked at us. He says, I guess you all think I'm crazy and I just laughed at him, tried to ignore him because he was acting weird.

(R. 641.) Mrs. Arnold also remembered Elmer speaking to his jacket: "He had this big brown jacket on and he had it pulled open like this. He was talking into his coat . . . I heard him say something about demons and devils." (R. 641.)

The following morning, wildlife officer Carl Young was driving on State Road 520 when he spotted Elmer walking with his head down along the roadside. (R. 366-67.) A short time later, after realizing that Elmer was suspected in a homicide, Officer

Young swung his patrol car around and sped to catch up with Elmer. (R. 370, 374-75.) Dust and grass sprayed into the air as Officer Young drove his car up right behind Elmer, but Elmer didn't even turn around. (R. 375.) Apparently unaware of Officer Young's presence, Elmer just kept walking. (R. 370.) "When he didn't turn around to see what was going on, it kind of spooked me," Young testified. (R. 370.)

When Elmer was placed under arrest, according to Deputy Mark McDaniel, "His only reaction was almost no reaction." (R. 344.) Elmer just had "a blank stare." (R. 347, 352.)

James Taylor, Elmer's court-appointed lawyer, recalled the first time he saw Elmer: "I thought Elmer Carroll was insane. I happened to be in court when he made his first court appearance with the public defender. I had looked at him then, and I thought this guy was nuts." (PC-T. 135.) When Mr. Taylor took over the case, he found Elmer to be "a nice, courteous person that couldn't give me any help..." (PC-T. 136.) "I felt like I was talking to an empty suit," he stated. (PC-T. 150-51.) Elmer's behavior troubled his attorney throughout the trial. After the State rested its penalty phase case, Mr. Taylor chose not to put Elmer on the stand. He explained to the judge, "I don't think he's in my opinion capable of testifying. I have no idea what he's going to say. He could say one thing. He could say the other; too dangerous." (R. 912.) Elmer even told his lawyer that one of the State's witnesses wasn't who he claimed to be, (R. 913), and that the state attorney was instructing people

to tell lies. (R. 913.) At the sentencing hearing, Elmer's lawyer advised the court that his client's sanity was in question and requested that sentencing be delayed until Elmer was evaluated by a mental health expert. (R. 966-68.) The court denied this request. (R. 968.)

Since his incarceration in 1992, Elmer has been diagnosed as psychotic, suffering from paranoid schizophrenia. (PC-T. 240-41.) He has consistently been medicated with an array of antipsychotic drugs, neurotropic medication, tranquilizers, and antidepressants. (PC-T. 325.) He passes his days writing letters to his attorneys in which he complains of nurses spitting in his medicine and conspiracies among the prison staff.

## II. Elmer Carroll's insanity and incompetency to proceed

On November 1, 1990, within forty-eight hours of Mr. Carroll's arrest, Gainesville psychologist Elizabeth McMahon traveled to the Orange County Correctional Facility to evaluate Mr. Carroll at the request of the public defender then assigned to the case. For three hours Dr. McMahon attempted to conduct a psychological evaluation of Mr. Carroll, but found that he was paranoid and untestable. (PC-T. 315.) As she recounted at the evidentiary hearing, "[Mr. Carroll] would say from time to time, 'The voices don't want me to answer you;' or 'The voices are telling me you should leave,' or . . . 'They'll hurt me if I talk to you.'" (PC-T. 316.) Dr. McMahon determined that Mr. Carroll was psychotic and indicated that he would have to be medicated before an examination could be conducted. (PC-T. 316-17, 320.)

At the evidentiary hearing, Dr. McMahon testified that she was confident Mr. Carroll's psychosis was genuine. (PC-T. 317.) Dr. McMahon explained that people who try to malinger do so by imitating the stereotyped images of the mentally ill that are commonly portrayed on television, for instance. (PC-T. 317.) In contrast, Mr. Carroll "behaved in a way that was internally consistent for somebody who is psychotic." (PC-T. 317.) She stated that in order to effectively malinger, someone would "[h]ave to be intelligent, have to be aware of what, how psychosis manifests and then be able to carry that out, carry that out consistently without slips." (PC-T. 318.) "And in my clinical opinion, he was not capable of having either studied that to that extent or have been able to maintain that consistently for a three-hour period of time." (PC-T. 317.)

After interviewing Mr. Carroll, Dr. McMahon returned to Gainesville and phoned Mr. Carroll's attorney.<sup>1</sup> (PC-T. 319.) She told him that Mr. Carroll was psychotic and untestable, and that once he was medicated she would be "happy to do the psychological evaluation."<sup>2</sup> (PC-T. 319.) She expected to be contacted in order to perform an evaluation, but no one ever got in touch with her. (PC-T. 319-20.) At the evidentiary hearing, she testified, "I was never contacted. In fact, I contacted them

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>At this time, Mr. Carroll was represented by Assistant Public Defender David Fussell.

<sup>2</sup>At the evidentiary hearing, Dr. McMahon testified that she would have administered the same battery of tests that Dr. Crown did at the request of Mr. Carroll's postconviction counsel, in addition to a full psychological exam. (PC-T. 331.) Dr. Crown's testing revealed that Mr. Carroll suffers from brain damage. (PC-T. 233.)

and to find out what was going on, or whatever . . . . And I was not contacted until whenever Mr. Taylor called me for, to testify [shortly before trial]." (PC-T. 320.) (When she finally was contacted, Mr. Taylor did not provide her with any records: "I didn't even have discovery," she testified. (PC-T. 321.))

Days after Dr. McMahon's contact with Elmer Carroll, the trial court appointed three experts to determine Mr. Carroll's competency to proceed. Two out of the three doctors concluded that Mr. Carroll was incompetent. (R. 1042, 1043-47, 1075-78.)

Dr. Kirkland examined Mr. Carroll on November 6, 1990 and found him "not competent to stand trial, especially on a charge of murder." (R. 1042.) Dr. Kirkland recommended that Mr. Carroll be sent to a state hospital facility for further evaluation and treatment. (R. 1042.)

Dr. Benson examined Mr. Carroll on December 11, 1990 and also concluded that Mr. Carroll was incompetent. (R. 1043-47). During this examination Mr. Carroll stated that he heard voices, and told Dr. Benson, "I see things, people. They try to make me believe they're somebody else." (R. 1044.) Mr. Carroll went on to say that the jail staff poisons his food; that he sometimes sees messages on television directed only at him; that people follow him and talk about him on the streets; that he communicates directly with God; and that he has the power to read minds and to heal people. (R. 1045.) Dr. Benson diagnosed Mr. Carroll with schizophrenia and noted in his report, "I do not believe [Mr. Carroll] is malingering. He is too regressed, too

disorganized, and almost certainly is hallucinatory and delusional." (R. 1046.)

Dr. Erlich examined Mr. Carroll on December 7, 1990. (R. 1075-78.) At the interview Mr. Carroll remarked, "There's stuff on my cell that looks like blood . . . The windows are smeared with stuff. It's like they're trying to make me believe things that are not true." (R. 1076.) Dr. Erlich observed that "Cognition is bizarre and hard to test. Insight and judgement (sic) are poor," (R. 1077), but concluded that Mr. Carroll was competent to proceed. (Id.)

Ten months later, the court appointed two additional experts and ordered the three experts initially appointed to reevaluate him.<sup>3</sup> Mr. Carroll's attorney filed an objection to the appointment of additional experts as contrary to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.210(b). Before any of these doctors had examined Mr. Carroll, the court proceeded to set the case for trial. (R. 1054.)

Dr. Benson, upon reexamining Mr. Carroll in October 1991, reaffirmed his opinion that Mr. Carroll was incompetent. (R. 1062-65.) Doctors Danziger and Gutman, the two experts appointed in 1991, both found Mr. Carroll competent to proceed. Each expressed some reservations about his conclusions, however. Dr. Danziger cautioned that "I feel that the defendant does meet competency criteria at this point, *but without medication that status could possibly worsen in the foreseeable future*." (R. 1071.)(emphasis added) Dr. Danziger also concluded that Mr. Carroll was *psychotic at the time of the offense and unable to distinguish right from wrong*. (R. 1066-72.) Dr. Gutman predicted that representing Mr. Carroll would be "laborious for defense counsel," although he was hopeful Mr. Carroll would "participate grudgingly in his own defense." (R. 1061.) Dr. Kirkland, who saw Mr. Carroll for a second time on October 10, 1991, decided Mr. Carroll was competent to proceed. (R. 1073-74.)

At the evidentiary hearing, counsel for Mr. Carroll presented the testimony of Doctors Danziger and Gutman. After reviewing the records provided to them by collateral counsel (consisting of school records, medical records, DOC records, and family histories), both doctors testified that they would reconsider their original opinions regarding Mr. Carroll's competency at the time of trial. (PC-T. 403, 393, 375-82.) Furthermore, **both doctors testified that at least two statutory mitigators applied to Mr. Carroll.** (PC-T. 381-82, 398.)

3However, Dr. Erlich did not conduct a second evaluation of Mr. Carroll.

Dr. Gutman's opinion at the time of trial was that Mr. Carroll was malingering. (PC-T. 387.) At the evidentiary hearing, however, Dr. Gutman testified that "I tend to feel now . . . that he may not have been malingering and only gave that appearance." (PC-T. 403.) He explained that Mr. Carroll has a "malingering-like persona" which gives the impression of malingering even though his illness is genuine. (PC-T. 394.) Dr. Gutman also stated that, "In view of the overall picture presented [in the records] and what I had learned before and what I saw of this man, I feel that an organic diagnosis would be appropriate, meaning brain tissue injury and dysfunction." (PC-T. 393.)

Although the records provided to Doctors Gutman and Danziger by collateral counsel included DOC records postdating Mr. Carroll's trial, the doctors were able to separate out these records and offer their opinions based solely on records in existence at the time of trial. Relying only on records which were available in 1992 (i.e., the school records and affidavits from family members), Dr. Gutman stated, "My current diagnosis would be mental disorder with mood, memory, personality change and cognitive decline associated with alcohol deterioration and influence on the brain." (PC-T. 391.) Dr. Gutman noted that the records which were available in 1992 contained information about alcohol abuse by Mr. Carroll's mother; the possibility that Mr. Carroll suffers from Fetal Alcohol Syndrome; Mr. Carroll huffing gasoline and glue and drinking at an early age; and psychological testing conducted during Mr. Carroll's childhood which showed an IQ of around 80. (PC-T. 392.) Dr. Gutman testified that, *had he had exposure to these records*, they would have confirmed that Mr. Carroll had evidence of a psychotic illness around the time of the offense and that the psychosis had developed. (PC-T. 392.) Dr. Gutman continued:

[T]he confirmation of information from family members as to early influences of, or influence of alcohol would have pointed to at least an organic diagnosis . . . So, that would have probably been the biggest mitigating circumstance. The organic diagnosis underlying would have been certainly important and would go on to explain what others have found postconviction.

(PC-T. 400.) Although Dr. Gutman did not rely on the postconviction DOC records in reaching his diagnosis, he pointed out that the DOC records were consistent with his present diagnosis of Mr. Carroll. (PC-T. 411.) In other words, the DOC records fit in with the larger pattern of Mr. Carroll's behavior as reflected in records from Mr. Carroll's childhood up to the time of trial. As Dr. Gutman stated, "I believe this [mental illness] is life-long." (PC-T. 412.)

Dr. McMahon, too, testified that Mr. Carroll's mental illness spanned his entire life. (PC-T. 328-29.) She testified as follows:

# $\mathbb{Q}$ ...[W]ould it be possible for someone like Mr. Carroll to be faking this illness all this time?

- A No.
- Q All these years?
- A No.

# Q Would it be, is this the kind of mental illness, the kind of symptoms you have, you think just came up overnight?

A **No, absolutely not.** As Dr. Crown mentioned, certainly his psychological profile and that on testing, as well, how he just appears interacting with him is certainly, the neuropsychological testing, he has what we call diffuse bilateral cortical deficits.

As Dr. Crown said, this is not a function of a specific head injury where you're okay one day and not okay the next because somebody whopped you over the head, or you had a stroke last night and are so paralyzed on one side this morning, or any of that kind of things. Those are not what's called specific times of injuries, this is nonspecific, bilateral and diffuse. (PC-T. 328-29.)(emphasis added) She also noted that testing conducted during Mr. Carroll's childhood yielded the same results as testing conducted today, thus refuting the assertion that Mr. Carroll decided recently to feign mental illness. Counsel questioned Dr. McMahon:

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