IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ELMER L. CARROLL,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. SC94611

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

1

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT A. BROWNE

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0802743 Westwood center 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR STATE OF FLORIDA

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUE I-This issue is procedurally barred as it should have been raised on direct appeal. In any case, appellant's deliberate, goal directed behavior, before, during, and after the offenses, refutes any suggestion he was insane at the time of the offense. ISSUE II-Appellant was not incompetent at any stage of the proceedings below. The overwhelming majority of experts who examined the appellant found him competent to stand trial. Trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to obtain background materials for the experts as even with the additional materials not a single additional expert testified that they now believed appellant was incompetent to stand trial. ISSUE III-Appellant has neither established deficient performance during the penalty phase nor prejudice under Strickland. The record revealed that appellant was estranged from his family at the time of trial and had not talked to any family members in more than a decade. Since appellant sexually molested his own niece and the daughter of his brother's friend, appellant and counsel had no reason to believe the long lost family members would be in a position to present favorable testimony. Further, counsel made a reasonable tactical decision to rely upon his guilt phase experts to argue the statutory mitigators.

ISSUE IV–Appellant has not carried his burden of establishing either deficient performance or prejudice arising from counsel's representation during the guilt phase.

Since not one expert at the evidentiary hearing testified that the additional background materials provided by collateral counsel would change their opinion as to competency or sanity at the time of trial, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective.

Appellant has offered nothing at the postconviction hearing to suggest that trial counsel's handling of the DNA evidence was inadequate.

ISSUE V–Appellant received a full and fair hearing of his postconviction claims. ISSUE VI–The trial court's summary denial of several post-conviction claims should be upheld where such claims were either procedurally barred or refuted by the record. Moreover, since appellant has failed to fully brief most of the issues he claims were improperly denied without a hearing, these issues may be deemed waived on appeal.

ARGUMENT

I.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REJECTING APPELLANT'S RENEWED POST-CONVICTION INSANITY CLAIM AND FAILURE TO FIND TRIAL COUNSEL DEFICIENT IN PRESENTING THIS DEFENSE TO THE JURY? (STATED BY APPELLEE).

Appellant claims that brain damage and mental problems rendered him legally insane at the time of his offense. (Appellant's Brief at 31-32). Appellant is essentially asking this Court to reweigh the trial testimony with the addition of evidence presented by the defense at the evidentiary hearing below. This issue is not properly addressed in this collateral attack upon appellant's conviction.

To the extent appellant is simply challenging the adverse finding of the jury regarding his sanity at the time of the offense, this issue is procedurally barred as it was not raised on direct appeal. <u>See generally Johnston v. Dugger</u>, 583 So.2d 657, 660 (Fla. 1991), <u>cert. denied</u>, 131 L.Ed.2d 141 (1992)("Johnston's claim that he was not competent to stand trial in 1984 is procedurally barred because he did not challenge the competency finding on direct appeal.")(citing <u>Bundy v. State</u>, 538 So.2d 445, 447 (Fla. 1989); <u>Alvord v. State</u>, 396 So.2d 184 (Fla. 1981)). "Proceedings under rule 3.850 are not to be used as a second appeal." <u>State v. Bolender</u>, 503 So.2d 1247 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 484 U.S. 873 (1987). Consequently, this aspect of

appellant's claim is not properly raised before this Court.

To circumvent this clear procedural bar, appellant summarily mentions under this issue that his defense counsel was somehow ineffective in presenting this defense to the jury. He does not, however, mention in any detail counsel's alleged deficiencies nor how such deficiency prejudiced his client. This issue is later raised and more fully briefed in appellant's brief under Issue IV. (Appellant's Brief at 65-68). Rather than brief the same issue twice, the State will fully address the allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel as it relates to presentation of the insanity defense under Issue IV, *infra*.

Assuming, *arguendo*, that appellant's attempt to revisit the ruling of the fact finder below is not procedurally barred, the State notes that ample evidence supported the rejection of appellant's insanity defense. ⁷ And, if review of the jury and trial court's ruling is even appropriate at this level, the State is certainly entitled to a favorable standard of review.⁸ See Jones v. State, 332 So. 2d 615, 618 (Fla. 1976)("The

⁷This issue was raised as the twenty first claim in appellant's motion for postconviction relief. (PC-V-5, 826).

⁸"Under the M'Naghten Rule an accused is not criminally responsible if, at the time of the alleged crime, the defendant was by reason of mental infirmity, disease, or defect unable to understand the nature and quality of his act or its consequences or was incapable of distinguishing right from wrong." <u>Hall v. State</u>, 568 So.2d 882, 885 (Fla. 1990)(citing <u>Mines v. State</u>, 390 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1980)).

ultimate question of insanity, like all other factual questions, is left for determination by the jury which weighed all the evidence."). <u>See also Tibbs v. State</u>, 397 So.2d 1120, 1123 (Fla. 1981), <u>affirmed</u>, 457 U.S. 31 (1982).

Any attempt to buttress his trial claim now with information gleaned from the evidentiary hearing fails for three reasons. First, absent a claim of newly discovered evidence [a specific claim made in appellant's motion for post-conviction relief but asserted without any supporting facts]⁹, appellant may not simply add evidence developed in post-conviction proceedings to the evidence presented at trial and claim that the jury made an incorrect decision. Number two, even if such an analysis was proper, the experts who testified at the evidentiary hearing did not address the question of whether or not appellant was insane at the time of the offense. The experts called by the defense to testify at the evidentiary hearing primarily testified concerning the statutory mental health mitigators that might have been established during the penalty phase. However, this does not mean that they could have or would have testified that appellant met the criteria to be considered insane at the time of the

⁹In his motion, appellant summarily claimed that newly discovered evidence rendered his conviction unreliable. However, he did not bother to identify the evidence he is claiming as newly discovered. (PC-V-5, 828). The trial court noted the utter failure of counsel to plead this claim below: "This claim is not pled at all. Defendant simply states tht the State has a continuing obligation of public records compliance..." (PC-V-6, 1184).

offense. <u>See e.g. Foster v. State</u>, 679 So.2d 747, 756 (Fla. 1996)(extreme emotional disturbance mitigator "has been defined as 'less than insanity, but more emotion than the average man, however inflamed."")(quoting <u>State v. Dixon</u>, 283 So.2d 1, 10 (Fla. 1973), <u>cert. denied</u>, 416 U.S. 943, 94 S.Ct. 1950, 40 L.Ed.2d 295 (1974)). In fact, on review of the post-conviction record, the State did not find one additional expert from those who were procured by trial defense counsel who concluded that appellant was insane at the time of the offense.¹⁰

While appellant claims "[c]ommon sense dictates that Mr. Carroll was insane at the time of the offense" (Appellant's Brief at 33), the State maintains, as it did at trial, that common sense dictates just the opposite. It strains credulity to contend that appellant did not know what he was doing at the time of the offense or did not know what he was doing was wrong. The State notes that the primary problem with appellant's insanity defense is the same now as it was at trial below, appellant displayed ample evidence of goal directed, deliberate behavior before, during, and immediately after the offense.

¹⁰Appellant apparently believes that any time the word psychotic is mentioned by an expert that this term alone is synonymous with insanity. However, as Dr. Danziger testified at the evidentiary hearing below, the term psychotic is not synonymous with the term insanity: "Of course not." (PC-V-2, 382). Dr. Danziger was also aware that Dr. Benson had testified that psychosis is not synonymous with insanity "in this case." (PC-V-2, 383).

Appellant, armed with a knife, quietly gained entry into the home, and began to sexually batter ten-year-old Christine McGowan in her own bed.¹¹ He was able to rape her anally and vaginally to completion, suffocating her in an obvious attempt to keep her from screaming out for help, or screaming out from pain. Quietly completing the rape and murder of Christine, stealing the truck, drawing no attention to himself as he purchased items from a 7-11, fleeing in the direction of Cocoa Beach, and later that morning abandoning the stolen truck, were not the activities of a severely impaired man. Instead, these were the activities of a man who had a criminally deviant goal, who knew what he was doing was wrong, who accomplished his criminal acts, and fled to avoid being caught. Appellant's trial experts had a hard time explaining how his conduct was consistent with that of an individual who did not know either the nature of, or the consequences of his conduct.¹² (V-6, 718-723; 766-

¹¹In his argument, the prosecutor noted the following regarding the knife found under the victim's pillow: "Remember, Robert Rank told you that this knife he had never seen before. This is not a knife that was in the house. It was found in Christine McGowan's pillow. So ask yourselves, how did it get there? Did this ten year old girl keep a knife under her pillow? No, the man who attacked her brought it with him..." (STR. 936-937).

¹²At trial, Dr. Danziger was not aware of how the victim was murdered, specifically, he was unaware that the evidence showed the killer put his hand over Christine's mouth. (V-6, 719). Dr. Danziger was forced to acknowledge that the attacker putting his hand over the victim's mouth to prevent her from screaming "possibly" indicated knowledge by the killer that the act was wrong. (V-6, 719-720). And, if the facts showed that after committing the rape and murder appellant fleeing in the stolen truck

771). Indeed, they could not reconcile his deliberate conduct with their asserted diagnosis. <u>See e.g.</u> V-6, 718-21.

Appellant's claim that lay witnesses observations roughly contemporaneous with the offense indicate he was insane is subject to dispute. (Appellant's Brief at 33). Although the director of the half-way house testified that she observed appellant acting in a bizarre manner two weeks prior to the murder, she talked to appellant the evening before Christine was murdered and he had not seemed irrational and had seemed to be "functioning like anyone else." (V-5, 632-633). Moreover, aside from initially refusing to stop, the arresting officers did not observe any unusual behavior by the appellant.¹³ (V-3, 343, 349, 370-371, 374).

In sum, the State presented ample evidence at trial to overcome appellant's insanity defense. And, nothing appellant has offered at the evidentiary hearing casts any doubt upon propriety of his conviction.

II.

to the other side of Orange County headed in the direction of Cocoa Beach would indicate an awareness of the wrongful nature of his conduct. As Dr. Danziger testified: "That would be a hard one to explain away, yes." (V-6, 720).

¹³Detective Riggs Gay observed appellant "off and on for probably four or five, six hours." (V-4, 538). During that period he did not observe any bizarre or unusual behavior. (V-3, 539).

WHETHER APPELLANT WAS INCOMPETENT DURING HIS CAPITAL PRETRIAL, TRIAL, AND SENTENCING PROCEEDINGS AND WHETHER COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO PRESENT THIS ISSUE TO THE TRIAL COURT BELOW.

A. Procedural Bar

Appellant complains that he was incompetent at all stages of the proceedings below. This claim is procedurally barred as appellant did not challenge the lower courts competency finding on direct appeal.¹⁴ See generally Johnston, 583 So.2d at 660 ("Johnston's claim that he was not competent to stand trial in 1984 is procedurally barred because he did not challenge the competency finding on direct appeal.")(citing <u>Bundy v. State</u>, 538 So.2d 445, 447 (Fla. 1989); <u>Alvord v. State</u>, 396 So.2d 184 (Fla. 1981)). In any case, the State notes that three of the four experts who testified at the competency hearing prior to trial found appellant competent to stand trial. (CH. 1360-1390). Perhaps recognizing this procedural bar, appellant claims that his counsel was ineffective in presenting the competency issue to the trial court below.

B. Standard Of Review

¹⁴"Criminal law presumes that individuals are competent...and a finding of competence, once made, continues to be presumptively correct until some good reason to doubt it is presented." James v. State of Iowa, 100 F.3d 586, 589 (8th Cir. 1996)(quoting <u>Garrett v. Groose</u>, 99 F.3d 283, 286 (8th Cir. 1996)). Appellant's conduct during trial does not suggest that a subsequent evaluation of his competency was required.

This Court recently summarized the appropriate standard of review in <u>State v.</u> <u>Reichman</u>, 25 Fla.L.Weekly S163, S165 (Fla. February 24, 2000):

Ineffective assistance of counsel claims present a mixed question of law and fact subject to plenary review based on the <u>Strickland</u> test. <u>See Rose v. State</u>, 675 So.2d 567, 571 (Fla. 1996). This requires an independent review of the trial court's legal conclusions, while giving deference to the trial court's factual findings.

Deference to the circuit judge recognizes the superior position of the trier of fact who has the responsibility of weighing the evidence and determining matters of credibility. <u>Brown v. State</u>, 352 So. 2d 60, 61 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977). And, an appellate court will not "substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on questions of fact, likewise of the credibility of witnesses as well as the weight to be given to the evidence by the trial court." <u>Demps v. State</u>, 462 So.2d 1074, 1075 (Fla. 1984)(citing <u>Goldfarb v.</u> Robertson, 82 So.2d 504, 506 (Fla. 1955)).

C. Ineffective Assistance Legal Standard

Of course, the proper test for attorney performance is that of reasonably effective assistance. <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). The two-prong test for ineffective assistance of counsel established in <u>Strickland</u> requires a defendant to show deficient performance by counsel, and that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. The prejudice prong is not established merely by a showing that the outcome of the proceeding would have been

different had counsel's performance been better. Rather, prejudice is established only with a showing that the result of the proceeding was fundamentally unfair or unreliable. Lockhart v. Fretwell, 113 S.Ct. 838, 122 L.Ed 2d 180 (1993). The Defendant bears the full responsibility of affirmatively proving prejudice because "[t]he government is not responsible for, and hence not able to prevent, attorney errors that will result in reversal of a conviction or sentence." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 693. A claim of ineffective assistance fails if either prong is not proven. <u>Kennedy v. State</u>, 547 So. 2d 912 (Fla. 1989).

In any ineffectiveness case, judicial scrutiny of an attorney's performance must be highly deferential and there is a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance. <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 694. Further, a court deciding an ineffective assistance claim must judge the reasonableness of counsel's challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed at the time of counsel's conduct. <u>Id</u> at 695. A fair assessment of attorney performance requires every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight. <u>Id</u> at 696. "The Supreme Court has recognized that because representation is an art and not a science, [e]ven the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way." <u>Waters v. Thomas</u>, 46 F.3d 1506 (11th Cir.)(*en banc*), cert. denied.116 S.Ct. 490 (1995)(citing <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 689). D. <u>Appellant Failed To Show That Counsel Was Deficient In Presenting The Competency Issue Or That The</u>

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